Series Editor: Stefan Hohmann

# Stress-Activated Protein Kinases

With 41 Figures, 15 in Color; and 12 Tables



FRANCESC POSAS Cell Signaling Unit Departament de Ciències Experimentals i de la Salut Universitat Pompeu Fabra (UPF) E-08003 Barcelona Spain e-mail: francesc.posas@upf.edu ANGEL R. NEBREDA CNIO (Spanish National Cancer Center) Melchor Fernández Almagro 3 E-28029 Madrid Spain e-mail: anebreda@cnio.es

The cover illustration depicts pseudohyphal filaments of the ascomycete *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* that enable this organism to forage for nutrients. Pseudohyphal filaments were induced here in a wild-type haploid MATa  $\Sigma$ 1278b strain by an unknown readily diffusible factor provided by growth in confrontation with an isogenic petite yeast strain in a sealed petri dish for two weeks and photographed at 100X magnification (provided by Xuewen Pan and Joseph Heitman).

ISBN 978-3-540-75568-5

e-ISBN 978-3-540-75569-2

DOI 10.1007/978-3-540-75569-2

Topics in Current Genetics ISSN 1610-2096

Library of Congress Control Number: 2007942196

© 2008 Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable for prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

*Typesetting*: Camera ready by editor *Production*: LE-T<u>E</u>X Jelonek, Schmidt & Vöckler GbR, Leipzig, Germany *Cover*: WMXDesign GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany

Printed on acid-free paper

987654321

springer.com

*Topics in Current Genetics* publishes review articles of wide interest in volumes that center around specific topics in genetics, genomics as well as cell, molecular and developmental biology. Particular emphasis is placed on the comparison of several model organisms. Volume editors are invited by the series editor for specific topics, but further suggestions for volume topics are highly welcomed.

Each volume is edited by one or several acknowledged leaders in the field, who invite authors and ensure the highest standard of content and presentation. Only solicited manuscript will be considered. All contributions are peer-reviewed. All papers are published online prior to the print version. Individual DOIs (digital object identifiers) make each article fully citable from the moment of online publication.

All volumes of Topics in Current Genetics are part of the Springer eBook Collection. The collection includes online access to more than 3,000 newly released books, book series volumes and reference works each year. In addition to the traditional print version, this new, state-of-the-art format of book publications gives every book a global readership and a better visibility.

*Editorial office:* Topics in Current Genetics Series Editor: Stefan Hohmann Cell and Molecular Biology Göteborg University Box 462 40530 Göteborg, Sweden FAX: +46 31 7862599 E-mail: editor@topics-current-genetics.se

# Table of contents

MAPK kinase kinase regulation of SAPK/JNK pathways	1
Lisa Stalheim and Gary L. Johnson	1
Abstract	1
1 Introduction	1
2 Organization of the MKKK-MKK4/7-JNK1/2/3 signaling module	3
3 MKKKs as signaling hubs controlling JNK activation	4
3.1 MLKs (mixed lineage kinases)	5
3.2 MEKKs (MAPK-ERK kinase kinases)	5
3.3 ASK1 (apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1)	6
3.4 TAK1 (TGFB-activated kinase 1)	6
3.5 TAO1 (thousand and one-amino acid kinase 1).	6
4 Insight into the function of MKKKs regulating the JNK pathway from	
targeted gene knockouts	7
4.1 MEKK1	7
4.2 MEKK2	
4.3 MEKK4	9
4.4 ASK1	9
4.5 TAK1	.10
4.6 MLK3	.10
5 Conclusions	.10
References	.11
	17
Eronoisoo Jäosta Vaguara Cuadaluna Sahia Vuonna Kuma	.1/
riancisco mesta-vaquera, Guadarupe Sabio, Yvonne Kuma,	17
Abstract	17
AUSUICI	17
2 The m20th and m20S MADIC methodore	10
2 The p387 and p380 MAPK pathways	. 19
2.1 p38 $\gamma$ and p38 $\delta$ substrates	.20
3 Biological roles of p38 $\gamma$ and p38 $\delta$ MAPK pathways	.21
3.1 Cell cycle and cellular transformation	.21
3.2 Cellular differentiation	.22
3.3 Cytoskeletal organization	.24
4 More alternative p38MAPK pathways?	.25
5 Concluding remarks	.25
Acknowledgments	.26
References	.26

The regulation of stress-activated MAP kinase signalling by protein	
phosphatases	.33
Stephen M. Keyse	. 33
Abstract	. 33
1 Introduction	. 33
2 Regulation of stress-activated MAPKs by protein phosphatases in S.	
cerevisiae	. 34
3 Regulation of JNK and p38 MAPKs in Drosophila and C. elegans	.37
3.1 The Drosophila phosphatase puckered plays key roles in	
development, stress responses and ageing	. 37
3.2 The <i>vhp-1</i> phosphatase plays key roles in regulating stress	
responses and immunity in <i>C. elegans</i>	. 37
4 Mammalian MKPs play essential roles in the regulation of both	
JNK and p38 MAP kinase signalling	. 39
4.1 A subset of mammalian MKPs can regulate stress-activated	
MAPK pathways	. 39
4.2 DUSP10/MKP-5 plays a key role in adaptive and innate immunity	. 39
5 Inducible nuclear MKPs play key roles in stress resistance, immune	
function, and metabolic homeostasis	.41
5.1 DUSP1/MKP-1 is a key regulator of stress resistance	.41
5.2 DUSP1/MKP-1 regulates both immune and metabolic function	. 42
5.3 DUSP2/PAC-1 is a positive regulator of certain inflammatory	
responses	. 43
6 Summary	.44
Acknowledgements	. 45
References	.45
Transactional regulation by the n29 MADI signaling notherar in	
mammalian colls	51
Fusabio Derdiguero and Duro Muñoz Cónoves	• 51 51
Abstract	. 51 51
1 Transcription in mammalian cells	. 51 51
1 1 Pequilatory DNA elements	. 51 52
1.1 Regulatory DIVA elements	. 52 52
1.2 Chromatin mountying activities	. 52 52
2 The n38 MAPK signaling nathway	. 52 53
2 The p36 MATK signaling pathway	. 55 53
2.1  MAT K pathways	. 55 53
2.2 p36 MATRS	. 55 53
2.5 Opsitically kindses	. 55 54
2.5 Downregulators	-57 57
3 Consequences of n38 MAPK activation on growth and differentiation	. 57
of mammalian cells	57
3.1 Skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation	ر د . ۲۵
3.1 Sheretai musure promotation and differentiation.	. 50 61
	.01

3.3 Cardiomyocyte hypertrophy	65
4 Conclusions and perspectives	68
Acknowledgements	70
References	70
Regulation of gene expression in response to osmostress by the yeast	
stress-activated protein kinase Hog1	81
Eulàlia de Nadal and Francesc Posas	81
Abstract	81
1 Introduction	81
2 Regulation of HOG signaling	82
3 The Hog1 MAPK as a central component of transcription activation	
upon osmostress	84
4 Transcriptional regulators downstream of the HOG pathway	84
4.1 The bZIP protein Sko1	85
4.2 The MADS box protein Smp1	85
4.3 The zinc finger proteins Msn2 and Msn4	86
4.4 The Hot1 transcription factor	
5 Hog1 is part of the transcription complexes at the promoters of	
osmostress genes	87
6 Regulation of chromatin remodeling by the Hog1 MAPK	88
7 Hog1 MAPK and transcription elongation	
8 Conclusions and perspectives	90
Acknowledgement	92
References	92
Regulation of tumorigenesis by p38α MAP kinase	99
Ignacio Dolado and Angel R. Nebreda	99
Abstract	99
1 Introduction	99
2 Cell cycle regulation	100
2.1 Inhibition of the G1/S transition	101
2.2 Inhibition of the G2/M transition	101
2.3 Stimulation of cell cycle progression	
3 Regulation of cell survival and apontosis	104
3.1 Apontosis induction	107
3 2 Anti-apoptotic roles	108
3.3 Reconciling pro- and anti-apoptotic functions	110
4 Regulation of cell differentiation	111
5 Inflammation	112
6 Cell migration and invasion	113
7 Concluding remarks	114
Acknowledgments	115
References	115
List of abbraviations	120
	120

Control of cell cycle by SAPKs in budding and fission yeast	129
Sandra Lopez-Aviles and Rosa M. Aligue	129
Abstract	129
1 Introduction	129
2 Cell cycle control by SAPKs in Saccharomyces cerevisiae	130
2.1 Cell cycle regulation	130
2.2 Stress-activated protein kinase pathway and cell cycle control	130
3 Cell cycle control by SAPKs in Schizosaccharomyces pombe	132
3.1 Cell cycle regulation	132
3.2 Stress-activated protein kinase pathway and cell cycle control	133
4 Concluding remarks	136
Acknowledgements	137
References	137
Hog1-mediated metabolic adjustments following hyperosmotic shock in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae	141
Bodil Nordlander, Marcus Krantz, Stefan Hohmann	141
Abstract	141
1 Yeast osmoregulation and carbon metabolism	141
2 Osmolytes: glycerol and trehalose as cell protectants	144
3 Flux control and potential direct effects on metabolism by	
Hog1: PFK2	147
4 Glycerol export and import	151
5 Integration: a potential timeline of adjustments under osmo-stress	153
Acknowledgements	153
References	153
Control of mRNA stability by SAPKs	159
Miguel A. Rodríguez-Gabriel and Paul Russell	159
Abstract	159
1 Introduction	159
2. Eukaryotic mRNA turnover	160
2.1. Proteins involved	160
2.2 Localization	161
3 mRNA cis acting elements	162
4 Control of mRNA stability by SAPKs	162
4.1 RNA binding proteins involved in SAPK regulation of mRNA	162
Stability	103 165
5 Concluding remarks	103 166
Acknowledgement.	100
Keterences	166
Intrinsically active (MKK- independent) variants of SAPKs - How do	
they work?	171
Inbal Maayan and David Engelberg	171

1 Introduction	171
2 Intrinsically active variants of SAPKs - bypassing their natural	
mode of activation	173
3 Mechanism of activation of native SAPKs and of intrinsically active	
SAPKs	176
3.1 The role of the phosphoacceptors in the intrinsically active	
variants	176
3.2 The mutants acquired an auto-phosphorylation capability.	
3.3 Structural changes due to activation	
4 Discussion	
References	182
Develotion of MADI/ signaling in most	107
Echion Dudolf Same Dolot Motthics Dotor	107
Abates at	107
ADSIFACE	18/
I introduction to MAPK signaling during mating and high osmolarity	107
2 Occurrent Gring regenerations of the single call level	100
2 Quantifying signaling at the single cell level	189
3 Regulation of mating signaling	191
3.1 Pathway activation	191
3.2 Spatial/temporal regulation	193
4 Regulation of mating signaling by internal and external factors	196
5 The Osmotic stress pathway	197
5.1 Pathway activation by stress signals	19/
5.2 Internal regulation of the HOG pathway	198
6 Specificity/crosstalk between the two pathways	199
/ General principles for yeast MAPK regulation	199
8 Single cell measurement – future research	200
Acknowledgments	201
References	201
Modeling the dynamics of stress activated protein kinases (SAPK) in	
cellular stress response	205
Edda Klipp and Jörg Schaber	205
Abstract	205
1 Introduction	205
2 Mathematical modeling in systems biology	206
2.1 Purpose of modeling	206
2.2 Model development in five steps	206
2.3 Mathematical modeling of biochemical reaction networks	209
2.4 Analysis of models	212
3 Studied phenomena	214
3.1 Dynamic behavior and parameters	214
3.2 Ultrasensitivity, amplification, and robustness	216
3.3 Relative importance of kinases and phosphatases	217
3.4 Regulation of MAPK cascade by receptor activity	218

3.5 Regulation of MAPK cascade by downstream processes -	
feedback	219
3.6 Crosstalk and dynamics	220
4 Discussion/Summary	
Acknowledgement	221
References	222
	222
Stress-activated protein kinase signaling in <i>Drosophila</i>	225
Gerasimos P. Sykiotis and Dirk Bohmann	225
Abstract	225
1 Introduction	225
2 Structural conservation of the INK and p38 pathways in Drosonhila	226
2 Suddatal conservation of the start and poo pathways in Drosophila.	220
3.1 Mornhogenesis wound healing and immunity	220
3.1 Wolphogenesis, would hearing, and himmunity	220
2.2 DVL dependent exertesis during development	229
2.4 DW in TNE and implicition induced energies	229
3.4 JNK in TNF- and irradiation-induced apoptosis	230
4 p38 signaling in <i>Drosophila</i>	232
4.1 Identification of the fruit fly p38 homologues	232
4.2 p38 in <i>Drosophila</i> development	232
4.3 Genetic analysis of the fruit fly p38 pathway	234
4.4 RNA interference in cultured <i>Drosophila</i> cells	235
4.5 Downstream effectors and upstream components of <i>Drosophila</i>	
p38 signaling	236
5 Outlook	237
References	237
	242
Protein kinases as substrates for SAPKs	243
Alexey Kotiyarov and Matthias Gaestel	243
	243
I Definition of kinases downstream to SAPKs	243
2 Primary structure and overview	245
3 SAPK-regulated kinases in detail	245
3.1 MSKs	245
3.2 MNKs	248
3.3 MK2/3	251
4 Summary and Perspectives	253
Acknowledgement	253
References	253
List of abbreviations	260
Functions of stress activated MAP kineses in the immune response	261
Functions of Stress-activated Max Kinases in the infinute response	<b>201</b>
A betroot	201
AUSU du	201
1 IIII OUUCION	201
2 SAPK Functions in macrophages and dendritic cells	261

2.1 Role of JNK	
2.2 Role of p38 MAPK	
3 SAPK functions in B cells	
3.1 Role of JNK	
3.2 Role of p38 MAPK	
4 SAPK Functions in T cell development	
4.1 Role of JNK	
4.2 Role of p38 MAPK	
5 SAPK functions in CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells	
5.1 Role of JNK	
5.2 Role of p38 MAPK	
6 SAPK functions in CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	
6.1 Role of JNK	
6.2 Role of p38 MAPK	
7 SAPK functions in other T cell populations	
8 SAPK functions during an in vivo immune response	
9 Concluding remarks	
References	

# Stress-activated MAP kinases in chromatin and transcriptional

complexes	283
Nicholas T. Crump, Ya Ting Han, and Louis C. Mahadevan	283
Abstract	283
1 Introduction	283
1.1 SAPK cascades in yeast and mammals	284
2 Phosphorylation of sequence-specific transcription factors and	
recruitment of histone-modifying enzymes	286
3 Phosphorylation of general transcription factors	288
4 Phosphorylation of nucleosomal proteins	288
4.1 Inducible histone H3 phosphorylation is mediated by MSK1/2	289
4.2 Molecular function of histone H3 phosphorylation	290
5 SAPKs may also act independently of their kinase activity	291
5.1 A role for mammalian SAPKs in transcriptional and elongation	
complexes?	293
6 Concluding remarks	293
References	294
SAPK and translational control	299
Malin Hult and Per Sunnerhagen	299
Abstract	299
1 Background and paradigms for control of translation	299
2 Global controls of translation	300
2.1 Global control of initiation by phosphorylation of $eIF2\alpha$	300
2.2 Global control of initiation by phosphorylation of eIF4E/4E-BP.	300
2.3 Global control of elongation	301
3 Individual control of mRNA species – AREs	302

3.1 ARE-binding proteins under SAPK control	303
3.2 MAPK-activated protein kinases in signalling through AREs	303
4 Links between translation and mRNA degradation	304
5 IRES	304
6 Indirect effects on translation through transcriptional and	
posttranscriptional regulation	305
7 Concluding remarks	306
Acknowledgements	307
References	307
Index	311

# List of contributors

#### Aligue, Rosa

Department of Cell Biology, University of Barcelona, 08036 Barcelona, Spain. aliguerosa@ub.edu

#### Bohmann, Dirk

Department of Biomedical Genetics, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, New York 14642, USA Dirk Bohmann@urmc.rochester.edu

## Crump, Nicholas T.

Nuclear Signalling Laboratory, Department of Biochemistry, Oxford University, South Parks Road, Oxford, OX1 3QU, UK

## Cuenda, Ana

Departamento de Inmunología y Oncología, Centro Nacional de Biotecnología-CSIC, Campus de Cantoblanco-UAM, 28049-Madrid, Spain and MRC Protein Phosphorylation Unit, School of life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 5EH, Scotland, UK a.i.cuenda@dundee.ac.uk

## Davis, Roger J.

Howard Hughes Medical Institute and Program in Molecular Medicine, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA 01605.

#### de Nadal, Eulàlia

Cell Signaling Unit, Departament de Ciències Experimentals i de la Salut, Universitat Pompeu Fabra (UPF), E-08003 Barcelona, Spain. eulalia.nadal@upf.edu

#### Dolado, Ignacio

CNIO (Spanish National Cancer Center), Melchor Fernández Almagro 3, 28029 Madrid, Spain

#### Engelberg, David

Department of Biological Chemistry, The Alexander Silvberman Institute of Life Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, 91904, Israel. engelber@cc.huji.ac.il

## Gaestel, Matthias

Department of Biochemistry, Medical School Hannover, Carl-Neuberg-Str. 1, 30625 Hannover, Germany gaestel.matthias@mh-hannover.de

## Han, Ya Ting

Nuclear Signalling Laboratory, Department of Biochemistry, Oxford University, South Parks Road, Oxford, OX1 3QU, UK

#### Hohmann, Stefan

Department for Cell and Molecular Biology, Göteborg University, Box 462, 40530 Göteborg, Sweden

## Hult, Malin

Department of Cell and Molecular Biology, Göteborg University, Box 462, 405 30 Göteborg, Sweden

#### Iñesta-Vaquera, Francisco

Departamento de Inmunología y Oncología, Centro Nacional de Biotecnología-CSIC, Campus de Cantoblanco-UAM, 28049-Madrid, Spain

#### Johnson, Gary L.

Department of Pharmacology, CB# 7365, 1108 Mary Ellen Jones Building, University of North Carolina School of Medicine, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7365, USA

gary\_johnson@med.unc.edu

## Keyse, Stephen M.

Cancer Research UK Stress Response Laboratory, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee DD1 9SY, United Kingdom Stephen.Keyse@cancer.org.uk

#### Klipp, Edda

Max Planck Institute for Molecular Genetics, Ihnestr. 63-73, 14195 Berlin, Germany

klipp@molgen.mpg.de

## Kotlyarov, Alexey

Department of Biochemistry, Medical School Hannover, Carl-Neuberg-Str. 1, 30625 Hannover, Germany

#### Krantz, Marcus

The Systems Biology Institute, 6-31-15 Jingumae, M-31 Suite 6A, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 150-0001, Japan

### Kuma, Yvonne

MRC Protein Phosphorylation Unit, School of life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 5EH, Scotland, UK

#### Lopez-Aviles, Sandra

Department of Cell Biology, University of Barcelona, 08036 Barcelona, Spain.

## Maayan, Inbal

Department of Biological Chemistry, The Alexander Silvberman Institute of Life Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, 91904, Israel.

### Mahadevan, Louis C.

Nuclear Signalling Laboratory, Department of Biochemistry, Oxford University, South Parks Road, Oxford, OX1 3QU, UK louisem@bioch.ox.ac.uk

## Muñoz-Cánoves, Pura

Program on Differentiation and Cancer, Center for Genomic Regulation (CRG), UPF/PRBB, Barcelona and CIBER de Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Spain pura.munoz@crg.es

#### Nebreda, Angel R

CNIO (Spanish National Cancer Center), Melchor Fernández Almagro 3, 28029 Madrid, Spain anebreda@cnio.es

## Nordlander, Bodil

Department for Cell and Molecular Biology, Göteborg University, Box 462, 40530 Göteborg, Sweden bodil.nordlander@cmb.gu.se

## Pelet, Serge

Institute of Biochemistry, ETH Zürich, CH-8093 Zürich, Switzerland

## Perdiguero, Eusebio

Program on Differentiation and Cancer, Center for Genomic Regulation (CRG), UPF/PRBB, Barcelona and CIBER de Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Spain

#### Peter, Matthias

Institute of Biochemistry, ETH Zürich, CH-8093 Zürich, Switzerland matthias.peter@bc.biol.ethz.ch

## Posas, Francesc

Cell Signaling Unit, Departament de Ciències Experimentals i de la Salut, Universitat Pompeu Fabra (UPF), E-08003 Barcelona, Spain. francesc.posas@upf.edu

#### Rodríguez-Gabriel, Miguel A.

Depto. Microbiologia II. Facultad de Farmacia. Universidad Complutense de Madrid. 28040 Madrid, Spain

## Rudolf, Fabian

Competence Center for Systems Physiology and Metabolic Disease (CC-SPMD)

Institute of Biochemistry, ETH Zürich, CH-8093 Zürich, Switzerland

## Russell, Paul

Dept. Molecular Biology. The Scripps Research Institute. La Jolla, CA 92037. U.S.A.

prussell@scripps.edu

## Rincón, Mercedes

Immunology Program, Department of Medicine, University of Vermont, Burlington, VT 05405. mrincon@uvm.edu

#### Sabio, Guadalupe

MRC Protein Phosphorylation Unit, School of life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 5EH, Scotland, UK

## Schaber, Jörg

Max Planck Institute for Molecular Genetics, Ihnestr. 63-73, 14195 Berlin, Germany

#### Stalheim, Lisa

Department of Pharmacology, CB# 7365, 1108 Mary Ellen Jones Building, University of North Carolina School of Medicine, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7365, USA

## Sunnerhagen, Per

Department of Cell and Molecular Biology, Göteborg University, Box 462, 405 30 Göteborg, Sweden Per.Sunnerhagen@cmb.gu.se

#### Sykiotis, Gerasimos P.

Department of Biomedical Genetics, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, New York 14642, USA

# MAPK kinase kinase regulation of SAPK/JNK pathways

Lisa Stalheim and Gary L. Johnson

# Abstract

SAPK/JNK members of the MAPK family are regulated by at least fourteen known MAPK kinase kinases (MKKKs). In addition to the kinase domain, each MKKK encodes different protein interaction domains and motifs to control their interaction with upstream GTPases such as Rho, Rac and Cdc42, downstream MAPK kinases, and scaffold proteins that assemble the MKKKs into signaling complexes for the control of physiological responses to a plethora of different stimuli. Several MKKKs coordinately regulate the SAPK/JNK pathway with other MAPKs including p38, ERK1/2 and ERK5. It is the diversity of MKKKs within the MAPK signaling network that provides the signaling specificity for activation of MAPKs including SAPK/JNKs and the integration with other signaling pathways within cells.

# **1** Introduction

SAPKs are MAPKs shown to be activated by many different stress stimuli, hence their name stress-activated protein kinases (SAPKs) (Kyriakis et al. 1994). The same kinases were shown to phosphorylate c-Jun at Ser 64 and 73 (Pulverer et al. 1991; Smeal et al. 1992; Derijard et al. 1994), hence the name Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs). There are three SAPK/JNK genes (JNK1, JNK2, JNK3). Herein, for simplicity they are referred to as JNKs. JNK1 and JNK2 are expressed ubiquitously while JNK3 has a more limited expression primarily in brain, heart, and testis (Pulverer et al. 1991; Derijard et al. 1994; Kyriakis et al. 1994; Yang et al. 1997). Including c-Jun, several members of the AP-1 transcription factors are substrates for JNKs including JunD, ATF2, and ATF3 (Behrens et al. 1999; Shaulian and Karin 2001). Phosphorylation of AP-1 members by JNKs enhances AP-1 transcriptional control of specific gene expression. The importance of AP-1 in the transcriptional control of many different genes involved in homeostasis and the role of JNKs in regulating AP-1 activity led to an intense study of JNK regulation and it is now clear that JNKs have many substrates in addition to AP-1. The targeted gene disruption of JNK1, JNK2, and JNK3 has defined tissue-specific functions for each isoform including the control of metabolism, apoptosis, motility, proliferation, DNA repair, and the regulation of genes involved in homeostasis

> Topics in Current Genetics, Vol. 20 F. Posas, A. R. Nebreda (Eds.): Stress-Activated Protein Kinases DOI 10.1007/4735\_2007\_0238 / Published online: 1 August 2007 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2008



MAPK kinase kinases that regulate the SAPK/JNK Pathway

**Fig. 1.** MKKKs that control the MAPK pathways. There are twenty defined MKKKs known to regulate MAPK pathways. MKKKs phosphorylate and activate specific MKKs. Activated MKKs phosphorylate and activate specific MAPKs. The MKKKs and MKKs that regulate JNKs are highlighted in dark grey.

such as proteases and cytokines (Yang et al. 1997; Kuan et al. 1999; Sabapathy et al. 1999; Chang et al. 2003).

JNKs, like all MAPKs, are part of a three kinase signaling module (Fig. 1). JNKs are phosphorylated and activated by the MAPK kinases, MKK4 and MKK7. MKK4 and MKK7 are phosphorylated and activated by MAPK kinase kinases (MKKKs). Interestingly, whereas there are eleven MAPKs (JNK1/2/3, ERK1/2, p38,  $\alpha/\beta/\gamma/\delta$ , ERK5 and ERK7), there are only seven MKKs and at least twenty MKKKs. It is noteworthy that fourteen of the twenty defined MKKKs activate the MKK4/7 $\rightarrow$ JNK1/2/3 pathway, demonstrating the importance of the JNK signaling pathway in the cellular response to stimuli that frequently involve potentially harmful or lethal consequences for the cell. Such stress stimuli include irradiation, toxins, drugs, osmolarity, temperature, changes in cell shape, adherence, cytoskeletal dynamics, and responses to antigens, growth factors and cytokines. Table 1 shows a partial list of substrates for JNKs that control adaptive responses of the cell to these different stimuli.

Category	Substrate
Transcription factors	c-Jun
	JunD
	ATF2
	ATF3
	Elk-1
	Elk-3
	P53
	NFAT4
	HSF-1
	c-Myc
	Androgen receptor
	RXRα
	RARα
Signaling proteins	IRS-1
	Paxillin
	14-3-3
Microtubule-associated proteins	MAP1
	MAP2A
	Tau
	Doublecortin (DCX)
	Amyloid β precursor protein
Bel family proteins	Bcl-2
	Bcl-xl
	Mcl-1
	Smac
	Bim
	Bmf
Nuclear core complex	Nup214

**Table 1.** Phosphorylation substrates for JNKs

# 2 Organization of the MKKK-MKK4/7-JNK1/2/3 signaling module

Specificity in the organization of JNK signaling modules is controlled in part by recognition motifs for MKKK-MKK4/7 and MKK4/7-JNK1/2/3 interactions. A docking site referred to as DVD (domain for versatile docking) encoded near the C-terminus of MKK4 and 7 interacts with the N-lobe of the kinase domain of the specific MKKK (Takekawa et al. 2005), providing a docking mechanism for selective interaction of MKKKs and MKKs. Docking sites between the JNKs and MKK4 and 7 provide specificity in the interaction of the MKK and MAPK (Jacobs et al. 1999; Sharrocks et al. 2000; Fantz et al. 2001; Ho et al. 2003; Mooney and Whitmarsh 2004; Ho et al. 2006). Similar recognition motifs are present in JNK substrates such as c-Jun and ATF-2 (Sharrocks et al. 2000).

There are also several scaffolding proteins that organize specific JNK signaling modules. These scaffold proteins generally have no catalytic function, but rather



**Fig. 2.** Dendrogram showing the twenty MKKKs based on homology of their kinase domain primary amino acid sequences. The MAPKs activated by each MKKK are shown in the highlighted circles on the dendrogram.

have docking sites for binding specific MKKKs, MKKs, and MAPKs. Scaffold proteins that regulate the JNK signaling module include the JIP (JNK Interaction Proteins) 1-4 proteins, POSH (Plenty of SH3s), JKAP1 (SKRP), filamin, CrkII and IKAP (Morrison and Davis 2003). Scaffold proteins play an important regulatory role in controlling JNK signaling because they frequently bind specific MKKKs and localize the signaling module within the cell. Thus, scaffold proteins can regulate the spatio-temporal dynamics of JNK signaling.

# 3 MKKKs as signaling hubs controlling JNK activation

Figure 1 shows the MKKKs that have been defined to regulate MKK-MAPK modules. Of the twenty MKKKs, fourteen have been shown to regulate JNK activity. Six MKKKs regulate the ERK1/2 pathway while only two MKKKs are defined to regulate the ERK5 pathway. Nine MKKKs are known to regulate the p38 pathway. The restricted number of MKKKs regulating the ERK1/2 and ERK5 pathways implies a more restricted response and function for these MAPKs. For example, ERK1/2 is important in regulating cell proliferation in response to tyrosine kinases. The fact that ERK5 has a single MKK and only two defined MKKKs

shown to physiologically regulate ERK5 activity suggests a rather restricted function for this MAPK. Physiologically, ERK5 appears important in regulating vascular development and maintenance of the vasculature in adults. In contrast, the large number of MKKKs that regulate JNK and p38 indicates a role for these MAPKs in the response to diverse stress stimuli.

Figure 2 shows a dendrogram for the relationship of the different MKKKs based on sequence homology of their kinase domains. Based on the kinase homologies, the MKKKs can be divided into six groups: MEKK, MLK, Raf, Tao/Tpl2, Mos, and TAK1. Among these twenty known MKKKs, members of the MEKK, MLK, TAO, and TAK1 groups regulate JNK activation. The properties of each group of MKKKs controlling JNK activation is discussed below.

## 3.1 MLKs (mixed lineage kinases)

The MLK group has seven members that can be further divided into the MLKs (MLK1, 2, 3, 4), DLKs (DLK, LZK), and ZAK (Gallo and Johnson 2002). The members of the MLK subgroup each have an N-terminal Src-homology-3 (SH3) domain, kinase domain, leucine zipper region and a <u>Cdc42/Rac interactive binding</u> (CRIB) domain. DLKs and ZAK have kinase domains and leucine zipper regions but lack the CRIB and SH3 domains. ZAK is structurally similar to the DLKs but also encodes a sterile-alpha motif that mediates homo- or hetero-dimerization.

# 3.2 MEKKs (MAPK-ERK kinase kinases)

MEKK1, MEKK2, and MEKK4 have each been shown to regulate the JNK pathway in response to different stimuli. MEKK1 is a large 196 kDa protein with complex regulation. MEKK1 appears to be regulated by both Rac/Cdc42 and RhoA GTPases (Fanger et al. 1997; Gallagher et al. 2004). Furthermore, MEKK1 is the only member of the MKKK-MKK-MAPK signaling network that has a caspase 3 cleavage site. MEKK1 is also the only member of the MAPK signaling network to encode a RING domain containing E3 ubiquitin ligase function. The MEKK1 RING domain has been shown to regulate auto-ubiquitination of MEKK1 that inhibits its kinase activity as well as ubiquitinate and stimulate the degradation of ERK1 and c-Jun (Lu et al. 2002; Witowsky and Johnson 2003; Xia et al. 2007). MEKK1 is also one of only a few proteins in defined proteomes to encode a SWIM domain whose function in MEKK1 remains undefined (Makarova et al. 2002).

Whereas MEKK1 regulates both the ERK1/2 and JNK pathways, MEKK2 regulates the ERK5 and JNK pathways. MEKK2 is only one of two MKKKs, the other being MEKK3, which regulate the MEK5-ERK5 pathway (Nakamura and Johnson 2003; Uhlik et al. 2004; Nakamura et al. 2006). MEKK2 and MEKK3 encode PB1 (Phox-Bem1p) domains that selectively heterodimerize with the MEK5 PB1 domain to form a functional MEKK2 (or MEKK3)–MEK5-ERK5 ternary complex (Nakamura and Johnson 2003; Nakamura et al. 2006). The C-

terminal moiety of the MEKK2 domain is also capable of binding MKK7 for JNK activation. In contrast, the MEKK3 PB1 domain does not bind MKK7. Thus, MEKK2, but not MEKK3, regulates JNK activation.

MEKK4 selectively phosphorylates MKK3, MKK4, and MKK6 leading to the activation of both JNK and p38. MEKK4 binds Cdc42 and Rac via a CRIB domain and kinase-inactive MEKK4 inhibits Cdc42 and Rac activation of JNK (Fanger et al. 1997; Gerwins et al. 1997). MEKK4 also binds GADD45  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  proteins (Mita et al. 2002; Chi et al. 2004; Miyake et al. 2007), resulting in activation of MEKK4 kinase activity. MEKK4 and MEKK1 also bind the scaffold protein Axin, leading to JNK activation (Zhang et al. 1999; Zhang et al. 2001; Luo et al. 2003; Wong et al. 2004), suggesting MEKK4 and MEKK1 control JNK activation in the non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway.

# 3.3 ASK1 (apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1)

ASK1 binds thioredoxin near its N-terminus and is activated in response to reactive oxygen species that cause the release of thioredoxin (Hayakawa et al. 2006). In addition, ASK1 binds JIP scaffold proteins and phosphorylates MKK4, MKK7, and MKK3, thereby activating both JNK and p38. ASK1 has been found to be activated by LPS and various pro-inflammatory cytokines.

# 3.4 TAK1 (<u>T</u>GFβ-<u>a</u>ctivated <u>k</u>inase 1)

TAK1 is activated in response to IL-1, TNF $\alpha$ , and LPS stimulation of cells. In response to pro-inflammatory stimuli, TAK1 forms a complex with TAB1, which forms a complex with TAB2, TAB3, and the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF6 (Wang et al. 2001; Kanayama et al. 2004). This activated TAK1 complex coordinates the activation of MKK4, MKK6, and IKK leading to the activation of JNK, p38, and NF- $\kappa$ B.

# 3.5 TAO1 (thousand and one-amino acid kinase 1)

TAO1 and the related kinase TAO2 were cloned using degenerate oligonucleotide-based PCR cloning strategies for kinases related to the yeast Ste20 kinase (Chen et al. 1999; Zhou et al. 2004). Other than overexpression studies showing TAO kinases activate JNKs and p38, little is known about their function.

The different MKKKs described above that regulate the JNK pathway should be thought of in the greater context of the MAPK signaling network. The differing regulatory domains and motifs encoded in each MKKK selectively control their activation, inactivation, and association with regulatory proteins and scaffold proteins to mediate localization within the cell. As we see with most MKKKs that regulate the JNK pathway, MKKKs are often able to phosphorylate more than one MKK and thus regulate more than one MAPK pathway (see Fig. 1). Many MKKKs that regulate JNK also regulate p38 consistent with a coordinated activation of JNK and p38 in response to stress stimuli. In contrast, MEKK1 activates JNK and ERK1/2, and MEKK2 activates JNK and ERK5. It is the differential control of MKKK activation and the organization of MKKKs with other proteins in signaling complexes that provide an amazing combinatorial diversity for the integration of MAPK networks for control of cellular responses to many different stimuli.

# 4 Insight into the function of MKKKs regulating the JNK pathway from targeted gene knockouts

The function of MKKKs controlling the JNK pathways have been defined using biochemical and cell biological approaches, but elucidation of physiological functions has mostly come from targeted gene knockouts. Of the MKKKs that regulate the JNK pathway the phenotypes of MEKK1, MEKK2, MEKK4, ASK1, TAK1, and MLK3 knockouts in mice have been reported. A brief description of the phenotypes of these knockout mice demonstrates their selective function in cellular and animal physiology (see Table 2 for summaries of phenotypes).

# 4.1 MEKK1

Mice having the targeted deletion of MEKK1 generally appear normal at birth and are fertile. In a SVEV129 mouse genetic background, MEKK1-null neonates have open eyes at birth, indicative of an epithelial morphogenesis defect (Yujiri et al. 1998, 2000; Zhang et al. 2003; Xia and Kao 2004; Xia and Karin 2004). In addition, MEKK1 deficient mice have wound healing and homeostasis defects associated with defective tissue remodeling. MEKK1-deficient cells have defective migration due to a loss of calpain activation required for release of focal adhesions at the rear of migrating cells (Cuevas et al. 2003). MEKK1 has also been shown to be required for activin-dependent epithelial cell migration (Zhang et al. 2005). In human breast cancer cell lines and mouse fibroblasts, MEKK1 has also been shown to be a primary regulator of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA), which is required for cell invasion of the extracellular matrix (Witowsky et al. 2003). MEKK1 has been shown to regulate c-Jun, JunB, and Fra-2 expression and degradation and hence is a key regulator of AP-1 function (Cuevas et al. 2005). The role MEKK1 plays in the control of AP-1 function, protease expression, cell migration, and invasion is consistent with its involvement in wound healing, tissue remodeling, and tumor metastasis. In a transgenic model of metastatic breast cancer, MEKK1 deficiency markedly delayed tumor metastasis to the lungs. This was found to be due to a delay in dissemination of tumor cells because of an inability of the tumor to breakdown the basement membrane surrounding the tumor cellfilled ducts of the mammary gland (Cuevas et al. 2006). Recently, MEKK1 deficiency in a C57/Bl6 background has also been shown to be involved in fetal liver

MKK	Described knockout phenotypes
MEKK1	Epithelial morphogenesis defects (open eyes at birth, defective tissue re-
	modeling)
	Defective cell migration, loss of calpain activation
	Inhibition of urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression
	Suppressed cell invasion and dissemination of tumor cells
	Defective fetal liver hematopoiesis
	CD40 control of germinal center formation and B cell antibody produc-
	tion
	TH2 T cell tolerance
MEKK2	Mice normal and fertile at birth
	Suppressed TNF $\alpha$ , IL1 $\alpha$ & $\beta$ and IL-6 production in response to FGF-2
	Defective IgE-Fc R1 signaling in mast cells
	Role in osteoclast function
MEKK4	Neural tube closure defects (exencephaly with enhanced apoptosis)
	Neuronal migration defects
	Skeletal defects
ASK1	Viable and fertile
	Fibroblasts have altered response to reactive oxygen species
	Decreased TNFa production in response to LPS
	Resistant to LPS-induced toxic shock
TAK1	Embryonic lethal due to vascularization defects
	Critical for IL-1 and TNFa signaling
MLK3	Viable and fertile
	Mild defect in epidermal tissue of the dorsal midline

**Table 2.** Phenotypes of MKKKs Regulating JNK

hematopoiesis (Bonnesen et al. 2005), CD40 regulation of germinal center formation and B cell antibody production (Gallagher et al. 2007), and a JNK-Itch E3 ubiquitin ligase-mediated TH2 process in TH2 tolerance and lung inflammation (Venuprasad et al. 2006).

# 4.2 MEKK2

Mice having the targeted deletion of MEKK2 appear normal at birth and are fertile (Kesavan et al. 2004). MEKK2 deficiency has been shown to inhibit activation of ERK5 in response to growth factors such as FGF-2 in fibroblasts and IgE stimulation of the FccR1 in mast cells (Garrington et al. 2000; Kesavan et al. 2004). Like MEKK1, MEKK2 has been shown to regulate the repertoire of proteins in the AP-1 complex. MEKK2-/- fibroblasts are inhibited in the induction of c-Jun, Fra-1, and Fra-2 mRNA in response to FGF-2 (Kesavan et al. 2004). FGF-2-induced expression of TNF $\alpha$ , IL1 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , and IL-6 was inhibited in MEKK2-/- fibroblasts as is the expression of specific mast cell cytokines in response to IgE (Garrington et al. 2000). Interestingly, the knockout of MEKK1 and MEKK2 both alter the control of AP-1 components but do so differently, rendering distinct phenotypes. It was also shown that in osteoblasts, TGF $\beta$  or bone morphogenesis protein (BMP)

activates MEKK2 and JNK. Smurf-1, a HECT domain ubiquitin ligase, binds MEKK2 to promote its degradation and negatively regulate osteoclast function to suppress osteogenic activity (Yamashita et al. 2005).

# 4.3 MEKK4

The MEKK4 protein is highly expressed in the developing central nervous system. MEKK4 knockout mice have been generated by homologous recombination and MEKK4 knockin mice have been generated by genetic mutation to generate a kinase-inactive MEKK4 (Abell et al. 2005; Chi et al. 2005). The phenotypes of MEKK4 knockout and knockin mice are overlapping but not identical. Prenatal lethality is often seen due to severe defects in both the neural tube and skeleton. Both the knockout and kinase-inactive MEKK4 have exencepably associated with enhanced apoptosis in the neural tube and loss of both JNK and p38 activity. The phenotype of the MEKK4 knockout and kinase-inactive knockin are extremely similar to the knockout phenotype for the adaptor protein TRAF4 (Abell et al. 2005; Abell 2005). Abell et al. (Abell and Johnson 2005) showed that MEKK4 binds Traf4, promoting MEKK4 oligomerization and activation. This indicates that MEKK4 and TRAF4 are in a common biochemical and genetic pathway. Recently, MEKK4 was shown to be involved in regulating filamin-A expression and controlling neuronal migration in developing forebrain (Sarkisian et al. 2006). Filamin-A is an actin-binding protein essential for cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell locomotion. Loss of MEKK4 expression disrupts filamin-A expression and phosphorylation. The loss of MEKK4 and the resulting phenotype seen in the developing forebrain is similar to that seen with filamin-A mutations that contribute to periventricular heterotopia (PVH), a congenital malformation of the human cerebral cortex.

# 4.4 ASK1

Mice deficient in ASK1 are viable and fertile. ASK1-/- mouse embryonic fibroblasts respond to reactive oxygen species ( $H_2O_2$ ) with a normal transient activation of JNK and p38. However, the prolonged activation of these two MAPKs is lost, demonstrating that ASK1 is required for the prolonged phase of JNK and p38 activity in response to  $H_2O_2$  (Tobiume et al. 2001). A similar loss of prolonged JNK and p38 activation is seen in ASK1-/- fibroblasts in response to TNF $\alpha$ . ASK1-/- mice also have diminished TNF $\alpha$  production in response to LPS and are resistant to LPS-induced toxic shock (Matsuzawa et al. 2005). The regulation of ASK1 in response to LPS is through the MyD88/TRAF6 signaling pathway and plays an important role in the control of cytokines for the innate immune response.

## 4.5 TAK1

The TAK1 knockout mouse is embryonic lethal (Shim et al. 2005; Omori et al. 2006). There is defective vascularization of TAK1-/- embryos and yolk sacs, indicating that TAK1 plays an essential role in vascular development (Jadrich et al. 2006). The role of TAK1 in IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  signaling suggests it plays an important role in the inflammatory response (Sato et al. 2005, 2006). TAK1-/- fibroblasts show decreased IL-1 $\beta$ -induced IL-6 production (Sato et al. 2005) and TAK1-/- keratinocytes have a reduced survival when challenged with TNF $\alpha$  (Omori et al. 2006). Conditional keratinocyte deletion of TAK1 results in a severe post-natal inflammation with elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines and keratinocyte apoptosis (Omori et al. 2006).

## 4.6 MLK3

MLK3-/- mice have no obvious phenotype except for a mild defect in the epidermal tissue of the dorsal midline (Brancho et al. 2005). MLK3-/- mice are viable and fertile. TNF $\alpha$  -stimulated JNK activation was partially inhibited in MLK3-/fibroblasts, but there was no measurable inhibition of ERK1/2 or p38 signaling. The response to UV irradiation, sorbitol, anisomycin, and ceramide was normal in regards to JNK and p38 activation.

Therapeutically, MLKs have been intensely studied. Inhibition of MLK kinase activity by small molecules such as CEP-1347, an indolocarbazole that is a derivative of K252a, protects neurons from apoptosis. The compound was well-tolerated in humans but performed poorly in trials for neurodegenerative diseases including Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease (Wang et al. 2004).

# **5** Conclusions

MKKKs are upstream regulators of the MAPKs that integrate MAPK signaling networks with the complex cellular response to many different stimuli. MKKKs that regulate the JNK pathway are clearly involved in neural and vascular development, immune response, and inflammation. MKKKs as therapeutic drug targets are now being explored for small molecule inhibition. Inhibition of a specific MKKK has the potential to selectively inhibit stimulus-specific activation of MAPKs (Johnson et al. 2005). The continued characterization of MKKKs and their function in cells and animal physiology is needed to define their utility as therapeutic targets in human disease.

# References

- Abell AN, Johnson GL (2005) MEKK4 is an effector of the embryonic TRAF4 for JNK activation. J Biol Chem 280:35793-35796
- Abell AN, Rivera-Perez JA, Cuevas BD, Uhlik MT, Sather S, Johnson NL, Minton SK, Lauder JM, Winter-Vann AM, Nakamura K, Magnuson T, Vaillancourt RR, Heasley LE, Johnson GL (2005) Ablation of MEKK4 kinase activity causes neurulation and skeletal patterning defects in the mouse embryo. Mol Cell Biol 25:8948-8959
- Behrens A, Sibilia M, Wagner EF (1999) Amino-terminal phosphorylation of c-Jun regulates stress-induced apoptosis and cellular proliferation. Nat Genet 21:326-329
- Bonnesen B, Orskov C, Rasmussen S, Holst PJ, Christensen JP, Eriksen KW, Qvortrup K, Odum N, Labuda T (2005) MEK kinase 1 activity is required for definitive erythropoiesis in the mouse fetal liver. Blood 106:3396-3404
- Brancho D, Ventura JJ, Jaeschke A, Doran B, Flavell RA, Davis RJ (2005) Role of MLK3 in the regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascades. Mol Cell Biol 25:3670-3681
- Chang L, Jones Y, Ellisman MH, Goldstein LS, Karin M (2003) JNK1 is required for maintenance of neuronal microtubules and controls phosphorylation of microtubuleassociated proteins. Dev Cell 4:521-533
- Chen Z, Hutchison M, Cobb MH (1999) Isolation of the protein kinase TAO2 and identification of its mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase binding domain. J Biol Chem 274:28803-28807
- Chi H, Lu B, Takekawa M, Davis RJ, Flavell RA (2004) GADD45beta/GADD45gamma and MEKK4 comprise a genetic pathway mediating STAT4-independent IFNgamma production in T cells. EMBO J 23:1576-1586
- Chi H, Sarkisian MR, Rakic P, Flavell RA (2005) Loss of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 4 (MEKK4) results in enhanced apoptosis and defective neural tube development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:3846-3851
- Cuevas BD, Abell AN, Witowsky JA, Yujiri T, Johnson NL, Kesavan K, Ware M, Jones PL, Weed SA, DeBiasi RL, Oka Y, Tyler KL, Johnson GL (2003) MEKK1 regulates calpain-dependent proteolysis of focal adhesion proteins for rear-end detachment of migrating fibroblasts. EMBO J 22:3346-3355
- Cuevas BD, Uhlik MT, Garrington TP, Johnson GL (2005) MEKK1 regulates the AP-1 dimer repertoire via control of JunB transcription and Fra-2 protein stability. Oncogene 24:801-809
- Cuevas BD, Winter-Vann AM, Johnson NL, Johnson GL (2006) MEKK1 controls matrix degradation and tumor cell dissemination during metastasis of polyoma middle-T driven mammary cancer. Oncogene 25:4998-5010
- Derijard B, Hibi M, Wu IH, Barrett T, Su B, Deng T, Karin M, Davis RJ (1994) JNK1: a protein kinase stimulated by UV light and Ha-Ras that binds and phosphorylates the c-Jun activation domain. Cell 76:1025-1037
- Fanger GR, Johnson NL, Johnson GL (1997) MEK kinases are regulated by EGF and selectively interact with Rac/Cdc42. EMBO J 16:4961-4972
- Fantz DA, Jacobs D, Glossip D, Kornfeld K (2001) Docking sites on substrate proteins direct extracellular signal-regulated kinase to phosphorylate specific residues. J Biol Chem 276:27256-27265

- Gallagher E, Enzler T, Matsuzawa A, Anzelon-Mills A, Otero D, Holzer R, Janssen E, Gao M, Karin M (2007) Kinase MEKK1 is required for CD40-dependent activation of the kinases Jnk and p38, germinal center formation, B cell proliferation and antibody production. Nat Immunol 8:57-63
- Gallagher ED, Gutowski S, Sternweis PC, Cobb MH (2004) RhoA binds to the amino terminus of MEKK1 and regulates its kinase activity. J Biol Chem 279:1872-1877
- Gallo KA, Johnson GL (2002) Mixed-lineage kinase control of JNK and p38 MAPK pathways. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3:663-672
- Garrington TP, Ishizuka T, Papst PJ, Chayama K, Webb S, Yujiri T, Sun W, Sather S, Russell DM, Gibson SB, Keller G, Gelfand EW, Johnson GL (2000) MEKK2 gene disruption causes loss of cytokine production in response to IgE and c-Kit ligand stimulation of ES cell-derived mast cells. EMBO J 19:5387-5395
- Gerwins P, Blank JL, Johnson GL (1997) Cloning of a novel mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase, MEKK4, that selectively regulates the c-Jun amino terminal kinase pathway. J Biol Chem 272:8288-8295
- Hayakawa T, Matsuzawa A, Noguchi T, Takeda K, Ichijo H (2006) The ASK1-MAP kinase pathways in immune and stress responses. Microbes Infect 8:1098-1107
- Ho DT, Bardwell AJ, Abdollahi M, Bardwell L (2003) A docking site in MKK4 mediates high affinity binding to JNK MAPKs and competes with similar docking sites in JNK substrates. J Biol Chem 278:32662-32672
- Ho DT, Bardwell AJ, Grewal S, Iverson C, Bardwell L (2006) Interacting JNK-docking sites in MKK7 promote binding and activation of JNK mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Biol Chem 281:13169-13179
- Jacobs D, Glossip D, Xing H, Muslin AJ, Kornfeld K (1999) Multiple docking sites on substrate proteins form a modular system that mediates recognition by ERK MAP kinase. Genes Dev 13:163-175
- Jadrich JL, O'Connor MB, Coucouvanis E (2006) The TGF beta activated kinase TAK1 regulates vascular development *in vivo*. Development 133:1529-1541
- Johnson GL, Dohlman HG, Graves LM (2005) MAPK kinase kinases (MKKKs) as a target class for small-molecule inhibition to modulate signaling networks and gene expression. Curr Opin Chem Biol 9:325-331
- Kanayama A, Seth RB, Sun L, Ea CK, Hong M, Shaito A, Chiu YH, Deng L, Chen ZJ (2004) TAB2 and TAB3 activate the NF-kappaB pathway through binding to polyubiquitin chains. Mol Cell 15:535-548
- Kesavan K, Lobel-Rice K, Sun W, Lapadat R, Webb S, Johnson GL, Garrington TP (2004) MEKK2 regulates the coordinate activation of ERK5 and JNK in response to FGF-2 in fibroblasts. J Cell Physiol 199:140-148
- Kuan CY, Yang DD, Samanta Roy DR, Davis RJ, Rakic P, Flavell RA (1999) The Jnk1 and Jnk2 protein kinases are required for regional specific apoptosis during early brain development. Neuron 22:667-676
- Kyriakis JM, Banerjee P, Nikolakaki E, Dai T, Rubie EA, Ahmad MF, Avruch J, Woodgett JR (1994) The stress-activated protein kinase subfamily of c-Jun kinases. Nature 369:156-160
- Lu Z, Xu S, Joazeiro C, Cobb MH, Hunter T (2002) The PHD domain of MEKK1 acts as an E3 ubiquitin ligase and mediates ubiquitination and degradation of ERK1/2. Mol Cell 9:945-956

- Luo W, Ng WW, Jin LH, Ye Z, Han J, Lin SC (2003) Axin utilizes distinct regions for competitive MEKK1 and MEKK4 binding and JNK activation. J Biol Chem 278:37451-37458
- Makarova KS, Aravind L, Koonin EV (2002) SWIM, a novel Zn-chelating domain present in bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotes. Trends Biochem Sci 27:384-386
- Matsuzawa A, Saegusa K, Noguchi T, Sadamitsu C, Nishitoh H, Nagai S, Koyasu S, Matsumoto K, Takeda K, Ichijo H (2005) ROS-dependent activation of the TRAF6-ASK1-p38 pathway is selectively required for TLR4-mediated innate immunity. Nat Immunol 6:587-592
- Mita H, Tsutsui J, Takekawa M, Witten EA, Saito H (2002) Regulation of MTK1/MEKK4 kinase activity by its N-terminal autoinhibitory domain and GADD45 binding. Mol Cell Biol 22:4544-4555
- Miyake Z, Takekawa M, Ge Q, Saito H (2007) Activation of MTK1/MEKK4 by GADD45 through induced N-C dissociation and dimerization-mediated transautophosphorylation of the MTK1 kinase domain. Mol Cell Biol 27:2765-2776
- Mooney LM, Whitmarsh AJ (2004) Docking interactions in the c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway. J Biol Chem 279:11843-11852
- Morrison DK, Davis RJ (2003) Regulation of MAP kinase signaling modules by scaffold proteins in mammals. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 19:91-118
- Nakamura K, Johnson GL (2003) PB1 domains of MEKK2 and MEKK3 interact with the MEK5 PB1 domain for activation of the ERK5 pathway. J Biol Chem 278:36989-36992
- Nakamura K, Uhlik MT, Johnson NL, Hahn KM, Johnson GL (2006) PB1 domaindependent signaling complex is required for extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5 activation. Mol Cell Biol 26:2065-2079
- Omori E, Matsumoto K, Sanjo H, Sato S, Akira S, Smart RC, Ninomiya-Tsuji J (2006) TAK1 is a master regulator of epidermal homeostasis involving skin inflammation and apoptosis. J Biol Chem 281:19610-19617
- Pulverer BJ, Kyriakis JM, Avruch J, Nikolakaki E, Woodgett JR (1991) Phosphorylation of c-jun mediated by MAP kinases. Nature 353:670-674
- Sabapathy K, Jochum W, Hochedlinger K, Chang L, Karin M, Wagner EF (1999) Defective neural tube morphogenesis and altered apoptosis in the absence of both JNK1 and JNK2. Mech Dev 89:115-124
- Sarkisian MR, Bartley CM, Chi H, Nakamura F, Hashimoto-Torii K, Torii M, Flavell RA, Rakic P (2006) MEKK4 signaling regulates filamin expression and neuronal migration. Neuron 52:789-801
- Sato S, Sanjo H, Takeda K, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Yamamoto M, Kawai T, Matsumoto K, Takeuchi O, Akira S (2005) Essential function for the kinase TAK1 in innate and adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 6:1087-1095
- Sato S, Sanjo H, Tsujimura T, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Yamamoto M, Kawai T, Takeuchi O, Akira S (2006) TAK1 is indispensable for development of T cells and prevention of colitis by the generation of regulatory T cells. Int Immunol 18:1405-1411
- Sharrocks AD, Yang SH, Galanis A (2000) Docking domains and substrate-specificity determination for MAP kinases. Trends Biochem Sci 25:448-453
- Shaulian E, Karin M (2001) AP-1 in cell proliferation and survival. Oncogene 20:2390-2400
- Shim JH, Xiao C, Paschal AE, Bailey ST, Rao P, Hayden MS, Lee KY, Bussey C, Steckel M, Tanaka N, Yamada G, Akira S, Matsumoto K, Ghosh S (2005) TAK1, but not

TAB1 or TAB2, plays an essential role in multiple signaling pathways *in vivo*. Genes Dev 19:2668-2681

- Smeal T, Binetruy B, Mercola D, Grover-Bardwick A, Heidecker G, Rapp UR, Karin M (1992) Oncoprotein-mediated signalling cascade stimulates c-Jun activity by phosphorylation of serines 63 and 73. Mol Cell Biol 12:3507-3513
- Takekawa M, Tatebayashi K, Saito H (2005) Conserved docking site is essential for activation of mammalian MAP kinase kinases by specific MAP kinase kinase kinases. Mol Cell 18:295-306
- Tobiume K, Matsuzawa A, Takahashi T, Nishitoh H, Morita K, Takeda K, Minowa O, Miyazono K, Noda T, Ichijo H (2001) ASK1 is required for sustained activations of JNK/p38 MAP kinases and apoptosis. EMBO Rep 2:222-228
- Uhlik MT, Abell AN, Cuevas BD, Nakamura K, Johnson GL (2004) Wiring diagrams of MAPK regulation by MEKK1, 2, and 3. Biochem Cell Biol 82:658-663
- Venuprasad K, Elly C, Gao M, Salek-Ardakani S, Harada Y, Luo JL, Yang C, Croft M, Inoue K, Karin M, Liu YC (2006) Convergence of Itch-induced ubiquitination with MEKK1-JNK signaling in Th2 tolerance and airway inflammation. J Clin Invest 116:1117-1126
- Wang C, Deng L, Hong M, Akkaraju GR, Inoue J, Chen ZJ (2001) TAK1 is a ubiquitindependent kinase of MKK and IKK. Nature 412:346-351
- Wang LH, Besirli CG, Johnson EM Jr (2004) Mixed-lineage kinases: a target for the prevention of neurodegeneration. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 44:451-474
- Witowsky J, Abell A, Johnson NL, Johnson GL, Cuevas BD (2003) MEKK1 is required for inducible urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression. J Biol Chem 278:5941-5946
- Witowsky JA, Johnson GL (2003) Ubiquitylation of MEKK1 inhibits its phosphorylation of MKK1 and MKK4 and activation of the ERK1/2 and JNK pathways. J Biol Chem 278:1403-1406
- Wong CK, Luo W, Deng Y, Zou H, Ye Z, Lin SC (2004) The DIX domain protein coiledcoil-DIX1 inhibits c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation by Axin and dishevelled through distinct mechanisms. J Biol Chem 279:39366-39373
- Xia Y, Kao WW (2004) The signaling pathways in tissue morphogenesis: a lesson from mice with eye-open at birth phenotype. Biochem Pharmacol 68:997-1001
- Xia Y, Karin M (2004) The control of cell motility and epithelial morphogenesis by Jun kinases. Trends Cell Biol 14:94-101
- Xia Y, Wang J, Xu S, Johnson GL, Hunter T, Lu Z (2007) MEKK1 mediates the ubiquitination and degradation of c-Jun in response to osmotic stress. Mol Cell Biol 27:510-517
- Yamashita M, Ying SX, Zhang GM, Li C, Cheng SY, Deng CX, Zhang YE (2005) Ubiquitin ligase Smurf1 controls osteoblast activity and bone homeostasis by targeting MEKK2 for degradation. Cell 121:101-113
- Yang DD, Kuan CY, Whitmarsh AJ, Rincon M, Zheng TS, Davis RJ, Rakic P, Flavell RA (1997) Absence of excitotoxicity-induced apoptosis in the hippocampus of mice lacking the Jnk3 gene. Nature 389:865-870
- Yujiri T, Sather S, Fanger GR, Johnson GL (1998) Role of MEKK1 in cell survival and activation of JNK and ERK pathways defined by targeted gene disruption. Science 282:1911-1914
- Yujiri T, Ware M, Widmann C, Oyer R, Russell D, Chan E, Zaitsu Y, Clarke P, Tyler K, Oka Y, Fanger GR, Henson P, Johnson GL (2000) MEK kinase 1 gene disruption al-